IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 73,395

EASTERN AIRLINES, INC.

Petitioner,

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
CHARLES KING,
OF APPEAL, OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT
Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
ON THE MERITS

(With Separate Appendix)
Florida Bar No. 480770

THORNTON, DAVID & MURRAY, P.A. By: Terry L. Redford Attorneys for Petitioner, Eastern Airlines, Inc. 2950 S.W. 27th Ave., Suite 100 Miami, FL 33133 (305) 446-2646

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

a

a

This case involves a claim for emotional distress brought by Charles King against Eastern Airlines, Inc. King was a passenger on Eastern's Flight 855, from Miami, Florida to Nassau, Bahamas, on May 5, 1983. (R. 40-41). Shortly after takeoff from Miami International Airport, one of the aircraft's three engines failed. (R. 41). The plane was turned around for a landing in Miami, and on the return, the aircraft's other two engines failed. (R. 41).

As the aircraft lost altitude because of the loss of power, the passengers and crew were prepared for ditching. The Flight crew subsequently were able to restart one of the engines, and the aircraft landed at Miami International Airport. R. 40-41).

King, and other passengers not parties to this proceeding, sued Eastern for damages allegedly incurred as a result of Eastern's intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress and for damages arising under the Warsaw Convention. (R. 7-39). King's action was removed to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, but was remanded to the Circuit Court for Dade County. (R. 48-49). Shortly thereafter, King filed an amended complaint against Eastern. In his amended complaint, King alleged claims under state law for breach of contract (Count I), negligence (Count 11), and entire want of care (Count 111). King also brought a claim under federal law pursuant to the Warsaw Convention (Count IV). (R. 40-44). King's claims were based on allegations that

¹ In this brief the Record on Appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R," and Petitioner's Appendix will be referred to as "A."

Eastern failed to properly train and supervise its employees and on allegations that the incident on Flight 855 was caused by the failure to install oil seals, or "O-rings" in the engines in question. (R. 41). King also alleged that Eastern acted with an entire want of care in failing to properly inspect, maintain and operate the aircraft in question. Specifically, King alleged that Eastern's record revealed "at least one dozen prior instances of engine failure due to missing O-rings, and yet Eastern failed to institute appropriate procedures to cure this maintenance problem despite such knowledge." (R. 43). King alleged that he sustained mental pain and anguish, fright, distress and inability to lead a normal life. (R. 42).

Subsequently, the trial court stayed King's action, pending consolidated discovery and other proceedings in the federal court litigation arising out of Flight 855. (R. 48-50). The twenty-eight actions in federal court had been consolidated as Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) before the Honorable Edward B. Davis of the United States District for the Southern District of Florida. (R. 48-49).

On February 3, 1986, Judge Davis dismissed with prejudice all claims for emotional distress in which the plaintiffs failed to allege any physical impact or injury as a result of the incident on Flight 855. In dismissing the plaintiffs' claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress, the United States District Court applied section 46 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965), which had been adopted by the Florida Supreme Court in Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. McCarson, 467 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1985), as the appropriate definition for the tort of intentional infliction of emotional

Citing McCarson and section 46 of the Second Restatement, the court concluded that plaintiffs had failed to state a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress because the allegations of plaintiffs' claims did not support the contention that Eastern acted "intentionally or recklessly" and did not support the claim that Eastern was guilty of "outrageous and willful misconduct." In re Eastern Airlines. Inc., Engine Failure, Miami International Airport on May 5, 1983, 629 F.Supp. 307, 311 (S.D. Fla. 1986). (A. 16, 10). The court also dismissed plaintiffs' claims for damages for emotional distress under federal law pursuant to the Convention, concluding that "mental anguish alone is not compensable under the Warsaw Convention." In re Eastern Airlines, Inc., Engine Failure, Miami International Airport on May 5, 1983, 629 F. Supp. at 314. (A. 23).

a

a

а

а

Based on Judge Davis' ruling Eastern moved for a judgment on the pleadings in King's action in state court. (R. 51-73). The trial court judge, the Honorable Richard S. Fuller, "persuaded by Judge Davis' opinion in the MDL proceedings," entered a final judgment in favor of Eastern.² (R. 107).

King appealed the adverse judgment to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. The Third District, in a 2 to 1 decision, held that King had stated a cause of action under Florida law for intentional infliction of mental distress. King v. Eastern Airlines. Inc., 536 So.2d 1023, 1025-1026 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). (A. 1,

² The complaints filed in the federal actions were identical or similar to the one filed by King. (R. 51-73).

3-4). Judge Barkdull, writing in dissent, found that King had failed to state a cause of action for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. Judge Barkdull based his decision upon the reasoning enunciated by Judge Davis in the federal action, quoting Judge Davis' opinion on plaintiffs' intentional tort claims, in its entirety. 536 So.2d at 1028-1030. (A. 6-8). The Third District Court of Appeal also unanimously ruled that King had failed to state a cause of action under the Warsaw Convention, finding that "emotional distress alone" is not compensable under Warsaw. 536 So.2d at 1028. (A. 6).

а

a

The Third District then set the appeal for rehearing en banc on the issue of whether King's amended complaint stated a cause of action for "infliction of emotional distress" under Florida law. 536 So.2d at 1032. (A. 10). Subsequently, the Third District again concluded, this time en banc, that the facts pled by King were sufficient to state a claim for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. The decision was 5 to 3. King v. Eastern Airlines. Inc., 536 So.2d at 1032-1037. (A. 10-15).

Chief Judge Schwartz, in a dissenting opinion concurred in by Judges Barkdull and Jorgenson, stated that he thoroughly agreed with "Judge Barkdull's panel dissent and the decision of Judge Davis in <u>In re Eastern Airlines</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>Engine Failure</u>, <u>Miami International Airport on May 5, 1983</u>, 629 F.Supp. 307 (S.D. Fla. 1986), which, dealing with these very facts, held that there was no abstractly reckless conduct

in Eastern's maintenance of the airplane."³ 536 So.2d at 1034. (A. 12). Judge Schwartz further found:

Even assuming, however, as the majority holds, that Eastern's conduct was indeed reckless, I would nevertheless hold that no claim may be stated under the doctrine set forth in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46 (1965), as adopted by the supreme court in <u>Metropolitan Life Insurance Co.</u> v. McCarson, 467 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1985). This is because it is not enough under this rule, as the appellant and the majority seem to assume, that a defendant merely act "recklessly" and that that conduct is subsequently causally related to severe mental distress suffered by To the contrary, the principles of § plaintiff. require that the defendant's purportedly tortious activities be either intended to cause that mental distress or be undertaken with a reckless disregard of the known likelihood that it will occur.

King v. Eastern Airlines, Inc., 536 So.2d at 1034. (A. 12).

Additionally, the Third District, on motion for rehearing, reconsidered its ruling on King's claim for damages under the Warsaw Convention and substituted another opinion for its previous panel decision on the issue. A panel of the court again concluded that King failed to state a cause of action under the Warsaw Convention as "emotional distress alone is not compensable under the Warsaw Convention." King v. Eastern Airlines, Inc., 536 So.2d at 1031. (A. 9). The panel also further held that the unavailability of a cause of action under the Warsaw Convention did not preempt King's claim for

Judge Davis' ruling in the federal proceeding was appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. There has been no decision from the Eleventh Circuit in this related proceeding. <u>See In re Eastern Airlines, Inc., Engine Failure, Miami International Airport on May 5, 1983</u>, Case No. 86-5381 (11th Cir. filed May 28, 1986).

relief under Florida law. <u>King v. Eastern Airlines, Inc.</u>, **536** So.2d at **1031-1032**. (A. **9-10**).

Eastern thereafter sought to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the basis of conflict.

ISSUES INVOLVED

I.

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN REVERSING A JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF EASTERN ON KING'S CLAIM UNDER FLORIDA LAW FOR INTENTIONAL OR RECKLESS INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS?

II,

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT, AFTER HAVING PROPERLY FOUND THAT KING'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS IS PRECLUDED UNDER THE WARSAW CONVENTION, ERRED IN RULING THAT KING MAY STILL ASSERT A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER STATE LAW FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

The Third District found that King's amended complaint stated a claim for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress under Florida law. This was error as King's amended complaint failed to state a cause of action for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress, as this tort has been defined under section 46 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965), and as adopted by this Court in Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. McCarson, 467 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1985). Section 46 provides, "One who by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly causes severe emotional distress to another is subject to liability for such emotional distress." The conduct alleged in King's amended complaint was neither intentional nor outrageous.

Even if King may only be asserting a claim for reckless infliction of emotional distress this does not relieve King of the obligation to allege intentional conduct on Eastern's part with knowledge that would lead a reasonable person to conclude that his conduct created a high degree of probability that emotional distress to King would follow. See Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 46, 500.

"Conduct cannot be in reckless disregard of the safety of others unless the act or omission is itself intended." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 500, comment b.

King's claim is based on the allegation that Eastern's records revealed at least a dozen prior instances of engine failures due to missing O-rings, "and yet Eastern failed to institute appropriate procedures to cure this maintenance problem despite such knowledge." (R. 43). The failure to institute appropriate procedures does not constitute willful or outrageous conduct and would not subject Eastern to liability for punitive damages. King did not allege in his amended complaint that Eastern failed to initiate any procedures to correct the O-ring problem, and King did not allege that there was any conscious or deliberate decision by anyone at Eastern to ignore the prior O-ring failures.

a

a

a

The fact that Eastern is a common carrier does not relieve King of the necessity of pleading an intentional tort in order to recover damages for emotional distress where there is no physical impact or injury. Even if Eastern owed King the highest duty of care, that duty cannot be used to transform a negligent act into an intentional act.

Because the acts alleged were neither intentional, outrageous, nor undertaken in deliberate disregard of a high degree of probability that emotional distress would result, the Third District erred in finding King had stated a claim under Florida law for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress.

II.

The Third District properly found that King's claim for damages for "emotional distress alone" are not compensable under the Warsaw Convention. The Third District erred, however, in ruling that King may still assert a claim for infliction of emotional distress under This is because the Warsaw Convention exclusively governs state law. King's claim for damages that are alleged to have been caused by an accident on an international flight. The rule is well-settled that the Warsaw Convention is exclusive where it applies. In the case at bar, the Convention applies to preclude recovery of damages for pure emotional distress. King's state law claim for emotional distress is, therefore, preempted by the Warsaw Convention because application of Florida law would conflict with the Convention and stand as an obstacle to accomplishing the Convention's goal of uniformity in regulation.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN REVERSING A JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF EASTERN ON KING'S CLAIM UNDER FLORIDA LAW FOR INTENTIONAL OR RECKLESS INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.

In the trial court King sought recovery of damages under Florida law for emotional distress, in a case where there was no physical

impact and no physical manifestation of any emotional injury. King alleged three separate claims under Florida law in his amended complaint: breach of contract (Count I); negligence (Count 11); and entire want of care (Count 111). (R. 40-44). The trial court, citing Judge Davis' opinion in the companion federal litigation, entered judgment in favor of Eastern on all three claims under Florida law. (R. 107). King thereafter appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal.

On appeal King conceded that the trial court's decision was correct in regard to Count I for breach of contract and Count II for negligence. (See King's Initial Brief filed in the Third District, at King urged error, however, in regard to the trial court's entry of judgment in favor of Eastern on Count III of his amended complaint, which was captioned, "Eastern's Entire Want of Care." (R. 43). Under Count III King did not make a specific claim for "intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress," although when his amended complaint was filed in June 1984, four District Courts of Appeal in Florida had recognized such a cause of action. See Dominguez v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 438 So.2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), approved, 467 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1985); Scheuer v. Wille, 385 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Food Fair. Inc. v. Anderson, 382 \$0.2d 150 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Ford Motor Credit Company v. Sheehan, 373 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. dismissed, 379 \$0.2d 204 (Fla. 1979).

In Count 111, King realleged the allegations of breach of contract and negligence contained in Counts I and 11, and further alleged:

- 18. EASTERN's acts in failing to properly inspect, maintain and operate its aircraft on Flight No. 855 on May 5, 1983, constituted an entire want of care or attention to its duty and showed great indifference to the persons, property and rights of the plaintiff. More particularly, EASTERN's records reveal at least one dozen prior instances of engine failures due to missing 0-rings, and yet Eastern failed to institute appropriate procedures to cure this maintenance problem despite such knowledge.
- 19. EASTERN's entire want of care or attention to duty and great indifference to the persons property and rights of the plaintiff reasonably implies such wantonness, willfulness, and malice as would justify punitive damages.

(R. 43).

а

The Third District Court of Appeal ruled that King had stated a claim under Florida law for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. King v. Eastern Airlines, Inc., 536 So.2d 1023, 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). (A. 1, 9). The ruling of the Third District was error as King's amended complaint did not allege the requisite facts to support a cause of action for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. The decision of the Third District that King had stated a claim for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress conflicts with the definition of this tort, as adopted by this Court in Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. McCarson, 467 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1985). See also, Scheller v. American Medical International Inc., 502 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 513 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1987); Ponton v. Scarfone, 468 So.2d 1009

(Fla. 2d DCA), M. denied, 478 So.2d 54 (Fla. 1985); Kent, III v. Harrison, 467 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

a

а

In <u>Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. McCarson</u>, 467 So.2d at 278-279, this Court recognized a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress based on section 46 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965), which provides that:

by and outrageous who extreme conduct. intentionally orrecklessly causes severe emotional distress to another is subject to liability for such emotional distress, and if bodily harm to the other results from it, for such bodily harm.

Judge Davis, in the related federal action, examined the allegations of Count III based on section 46 of the Restatement when he ruled that the plaintiffs' complaints did <u>not</u> state a cause of action for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress under Florida law. <u>In re Eastern Airlines, Inc., Engine Failure.</u>

<u>Miami International Airport on May 5, 1983, 629 F.Supp. 307 (S.D. Fla. 1986)</u>. (A. 16). Relying on <u>McCarson</u>, Judge Davis specifically found:

In the instant suit, Count III realleges the previous counts for breach of contract and negligence and alleges that EASTERN acted with an "entire want of care" or that the subject incident was caused by the "outrageous and willful misconduct" of EASTERN. The facts alleged in support of these claims include EASTERN's alleged failure to properly inspect, maintain, and operate its aircraft. More particularly, it is alleged that EASTERN's records reveal at least one dozen prior instances of engine failure due to missing "O-rings," yet, EASTERN failed to cure the problem.

This last allegation is, perhaps, the Plaintiffs' strongest attempt to allege some type of scienter on the part of EASTERN. The Court finds, however, that the allegations contained in the Complaints, assuming their truth, do not support the

contention that EASTERN AIRLINES acted "intentionally or recklessly" as required to state a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress. There are no facts alleged to support the claim that EASTERN is guilty of "outrageous and willful misconduct."

a

629 F. Supp. at 311. (A. 20). Judge Davis' decision is on point and highly convincing.

The allegations of King's amended complaint are insufficient to state a cause of action for intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress because King never alleged that Eastern acted with an intent to injure, and King never alleged that Eastern deliberately engaged in conduct that was substantially certain to result in injury or death. See Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co., 498 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1986). An inadvertent failure to act, or actions which are simply insufficient to cure a problem, cannot form the basis for an intentional tort.

In Fisher, the personal representative of an employee's estate brought a wrongful death action against the employer, Shenandoah. The personal representative claimed that although the Florida Workers' Compensation Act provided the exclusive remedy for injury or death arising out of employment, the Act should not apply to intentional torts of the employer. The complaint alleged that Shenandoah required the decedent to enter pipes, which it knew contained noxious fumes and which would "in all probability" cause injury or death. The complaint further alleged that Shenandoah failed to provide its employees with safety equipment and failed to comply with OSHA regulations. In addition, the complaint alleged that Shenandoah willfully and wantonly required its employees to deliberately evade OSHA safety inspections

so as to prevent the company from being cited for safety violations. This Court ruled, that even assuming the allegations of the complaint to be true, the conduct of Shenandoah did not constitute an intentional tort. This Court stated:

In order for an employer's actions to amount to an intentional tort, the employer must either exhibit a deliberate intent to injure or engage in conduct which is substantially certain to result in injury Spivey V. Battaslia, 258 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1972); Reed Tool Co. v. Copelin, 689 S.W.2d 404 (Tex. 1985). A strong probability is different from substantial certainty and cannot constitute intentional wrongdoing. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 500 comment f (1965). The complaint involved here does not allege such virtual certainty on the part of Shenandoah; rather, it speaks only in terms of probable Such an allegation is insufficient in light of the strict interpretation that must be given to the definition of intentional tort....In the words of Prosser,

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