I.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Because of t h e  need to add a third issue to t h e  two  issues argued in Eastern's 48-page 

brief, as well as a need to respond to a 25-page amicus brief, space is at a premium. In 

addition, the issues are complex and t h e  arguments therefore  cannot  be  readily summarized 

without extensive repetition. In t h e  in teres t  of efficiency and economy, we intend t o  turn  

di rect ly  to our arguments. W e  respectfully request  the  indulgence of t h e  Court  in t h a t  

decision. 

IV. 
ARGUMENT 

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT 
THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COM- 
PLAINT STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER FLORIDA LAW 
FOR RECKLESS INFLICTION OF MENTAL DISTRESS, 

W e  believe t h a t  t h e  dis t r ic t  cour t  correct ly  held t h a t  Count 111 of our amended com- 

31 plaint  states a cause  of ac t ion fo r  intentional or reckless infliction of mental  distress.- 

Our position here  turns upon a pivotal f a c t  which we might as well highlight up front.  To 

3' Count 111 was draf ted before th is  Court's r ecen t  adoption of S46, Resta tement  (Second) 
of Torts, as a definition of t h e  t o r t  of intentional or reckless infliction of mental  distress; it 
was the re fore  bot tomed upon t h e  language of a forerunner case, Kirksey v. Jernigan, 45 
So.2d 188 (Fla. 1950), in which the tort was recognized without reference to the 
Resta tement .  Count I11 is therefore  f ramed  in t e r m s  of "entire want of care", "willfulness", 
and  "wantonness", rather than the language of S46 of t h e  Restatement.  The two  things 
amount  to essential ly t h e  same thing, however, as t h e  par t ies  and t h e  distr ict  cour t  
recognized, so w e  have taken t h e  l iberty here of describing Count I11 as an act ion fo r  
intentional o r  reckless infliction of mental  distress. Cf. Ingaglio v. Kraeer Funeral Home, 
Inc., 515 So.2d 428 (Fla. 4 th  DCA 1987). 
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fail to install an essential O-ring in an airplane engine's oil system is clearly negligent 

conduct, and not even Eastern has contended to the contrary here. To do it once, or twice, 

or perhaps even three times, is arguably merely negligence--negligence which can perhaps 

be accepted by the travelling public as an inevitable risk of human fallibility. An engine 

failure from such an oversight is undeniably a calamitous occurrence, however, since it  has 

the potential for causing massive loss of human life. One would therefore expect an airline 

to learn from its obvious errors and correct its maintenance procedures after perhaps one or 

two, and certainly after three, engine failures caused by the failure to install a simple 0- 

ring during engine servicing. 

When the same failure occurs for the same reason for the fourth, fifth, and sixth 

times, something is clearly amiss--and an airline's failure to correct its maintenance pro- 

cedures at  that point clearly becomes something greater than mere negligence; i t  becomes 

gross negligence, and i t  begins to approach the unforgivable. A t  some point between the 

sixth engine failure and the ninth engine failure for the same simple omission, it  becomes 

clear that the airline simply does not care about the safety of its airplanes or its passen- 

gers--that it is totally indifferent to safety, and that it has accepted easily preventable 

engine failures as normal events in its day-to-day operations, notwithstanding the poten- 

tially catastrophic consequences. 

When the tenth, eleventh, and twelfth engine failures for the same omitted O-ring 

occur, any further indifference to the obvious (and now clearly known) problem can only be 

characterized as flagrantly reckless behavior--behavior so reckless and outrageous, given 

the life-threatening nature of the risk involved, that it is the equivalent of an intentional 

disregard of the safety of the airline's passengers. See Piper Aircraft Corp. v. Coulter, 426 

So.2d 1108 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 436 So.2d 1 0 0  (Fla. 1983) (failure to correct 

known defect in face of substantial danger to lives of aircraft occupants constitutes reck- 

less conduct sufficient to justify civil punishment). Cf.  Nesbitt v. Auto-Owners Insurance 

Co., 390 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (conduct which is recklessly indifferent to safety 

of others is tantamount to intentional conduct). There are numerous Florida decisions in 
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accord.: 
I 

Perhaps the leading modern decision on this subject is Wangen v. Ford Motor Co., 

97 Wis.2d 260, 294 N.W.2d 437, 13 ALR4th 1 (1980). Reduced t o  i ts  essentials, the  decision 

holds that ,  t o  continue t o  manufacture or operate a product with a known defect  which can 

cause loss of life, is "reckless" behavior justifying civil punishment. That, of course, is the  

rule nearly everywhere. See generally, Annotation, Allowance o f  Punitive Damages in 

Products Liability Case, 13 ALR4th 5 2  (1982). Given the decisions cited above and in foot- 

note 4, tha t  would appear t o  be the set t led rule in Florida as well. 

If the  three omitted O-rings at issue here had caused Eastern's f i rs t  three engine 

failures, w e  suppose we could accept  a judicial declaration tha t  Eastern's omissions were 

merely negligent, and that  the  plaintiff's undeniably real fear  for  his very l ife during those 

heart-stopping minutes over the Atlantic ocean (and the psychic trauma which followed) 

should not be cornpensable because of a public policy designed to  eliminate trifling claims. 

There is, at least arguably, "some level of harm which one should absorb without recorn- 

pense as the price he pays for living in an organized society." American Federation o f  

Government Employees v. DeGrio, 454 So.2d 632, 638 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), approved in 

result only, 484 So.2d 1 (Fla, 1986). Arguable or not, of course, that  is the view tha t  this 

Court has accepted. See Brown v .  Cadillac Motor Car Division, 468 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1985) 

(no cause of action for  mere negligent infliction of mental distress, absent impact or 

physical consequences); Champion v .  Gray, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985) (cause of action for  

negligent infliction of mental distress available where mental distress results in physical 

injury).- 5/ 

+' See, e.g., Toyota Motor Co., Ltd .  v. Moll, 438 So.2d 192 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (similar); 
American Motors Corp. v. Ellis, 403 So.2d 459 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), review denied, 415 
So.2d 1359 (Fla. 1982) (similar); Johns-Manville Sales Corp. v .  Jansserts, 463 So.2d 242 (Fla. 
1st DCA 1984), review denied, 467 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1985) (similar); Dorsey v. Honda Motor 
Co., Ltd., 655 F.2d 650 (5th Cir. 1981), modified, 670 F.2d 2 1  (5th Cir.), cert .  denied, 459 
U.S. 880,  103 S. Ct. 177, 74 L. Ed.2d 145 (1982) (construing Florida law; similar). C f .  Dean 
Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Leslie, 410 So.2d 961, 964 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) ("entire want of care 
or at tent ion to  duty" and "great indifference t o  . . . persons . . . has long been sufficient t o  
justify" civil punishment). 

5' For what i t  is worth, we should note tha t  t he  plaintiff in this case may well have been 
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We cannot accept such a declaration with equanimity on the facts in this case, how- 

ever. The omitted O-rings at  issue here were not the first three omitted O-rings, or even 

the eighth, ninth, and tenth omitted O-rings. They were, at  minimum, the thirteenth, 

fourteenth, and fifteenth omitted O-rings, and they caused far more distress than merely 

trifling annoyance--and we therefore have no sympathy at all for a public policy designed to 

eliminate trifling claims on the facts in this case. By any measure which civilized society 

can bring to bear on the conduct of Eastern in this case, the plaintiff's claim is not tri- 

fling. Eastern's conduct was outrageous in the extreme, and clearly intolerable in a society 

which, when travelling, must rely upon the exercise of exceptional care by common carriers 

for their very lives--and we are convinced that the law of this State authorizes a recovery 

for the plaintiff's undeniably real mental distress as a result. 

Although the courts of this state have not been particularly liberal in allowing the 

recovery of damages for negligently-inflicted mental distress, they have declined to extend 

the benefit of that conservative policy to cases like this one, in which the defendant's 

tortious conduct has exceeded that of simple negligence. Instead, Florida has adopted S46 

of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which authorizes the recovery of damages for mental 

distress caused by aggravated conduct, like that in issue here: 

One who by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or 
recklessly causes severe emotional distress to another is subject to 
liability for such emotional distress, and if bodily harm to the 
other results from it, for such bodily harm. 

This tort--which goes by the name of "intentional or reckless infliction of mental distress"-- 

is undeniably actionable in Florida. See Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. McCarson, 467 

So.2d 277 (Fla. 1985); Dorninguez v. Equitable Life Assurance Society, etc. ,  438 So.2d 58 

(Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), approved, 467 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1985). The tort is not limited to inten- 

tional conduct; i t  clearly embraces reckless conduct as well. See Restatement (Second) of 

situated such that the "impact rule" itself was satisfied--since he was inside the airplane 
and therefore in intimate contact with it, when it  lost all power and began its harrowing 
descent to what was almost certain to be a watery grave. C f .  Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc. 
v. Cox, 481 So.2d 517 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), review denied, 492 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1986) (mere 
inhalation of asbestos fiber sufficient to satisfy "impact rule"). 
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Torts, S46, comment i. And the obvious reason for recognizing the tort is to provide not 

merely compensation to victims, but to erect a strong deterrent to the type of aggravated 

conduct which it recognizes as actionable. 

Although the cause of action has been recognized as a deterrent, the circumstances in 

which it will lie have been circumscribed somewhat to eliminate merely trifling claims. 

The action will not lie for "mere insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty oppressions, 

or other trivialities". Restatement (Second) of Torts, S46, comment d.5' Instead, an action 

for intentional or reckless infliction of mental distress lies-- 

. . . only where the conduct has been so outrageous in character, 
and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of 
decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in 
a civilized community. Generally, the case is one in which the 
recitation of the facts to an average member of the community 
would arouse his resentment against the actor, and lead him to 
exclaim, "Outrageous!tf 

Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. McCarson, supra at 278-79, quoting Restatement 

(Second) of Torts, S46, comment d. See Smith v. Telophase National Cremation Society, 

Inc., 471 So.2d 163 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). Although this gloss upon S46 is certainly meant to 

exclude run-of-the-mill instances of negligent conduct, and even intentional conduct 

causing only minor upset, we believe that the facts in the instant case demonstrate far 

more than the "mere insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty oppressions, or other 

trivialities" meant to be excluded by it--and that an action for intentional or reckless 

infliction of mental distress will  lie on the clearly outrageous facts in this case. 

If a first reading of our statement of the facts elicited the requisite exclamation of 

"outrageoustt from the Court, then a major portion of the issue presented here has essen- 

tially been resolved. If the requisite exclamation was not forthcoming, we ask the Court to 

consider two additional factors which we believe militate in favor of recognition of the tort 

See, e.g., Kent v. Harrison, 467 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985) (telephonic harassment 
aftermath of argument does not give rise to action); Ponton v. Scarfone, 468 So.2d 1009 
.a. 2nd DCA), review denied, 478 So.2d 54 (Fla. 1985) (requests for sexual liaison do not 

give rise to action). 
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on the  fac t s  in this case. First, there  is the nature of the "special relationship'' between the 

plaintiff and defendant in this case. The defendant is a common carrier. I t  therefore owed 

the  plaintiff not merely a duty t o  exercise reasonable care for his safety, but a significantly 

elevated duty--a duty t o  exercise the "highest degree of care" for his safety: 

. . . In accordance with the rule applying generally t o  common 
carriers of passengers for hire, it is the duty of a common carrier 
by aircraf t  t o  exercise with respect t o  passengers the highest 
degree of care consistent with t he  practical operation of the  
plane. I t  must use such degree of care not only with respect t o  the 
operation of the plane, but also with respect t o  its equipment, i ts  
maintenance and the  adjustment of all i ts  parts . . . . 

71 Kasanof v. Embry-Riddle Co., 157 Fla. 677, 26 So.2d 889, 892 (19461.- 

According to  the  Restatement,  conduct considered "trivialtt in some circumstances is 

of ten condemned as "outrageous" when i t  occurs in the context of such a "special relation- 

ship". Restatement (Second) of Torts, S46, comment e. In fact ,  the  Restatement contains a 

special rule for the type of "special relationshiptf in issue here--which authorizes the 

recovery of damages for mental distress against a common carrier when i ts  conduct has not 

been sufficiently egregious t o  be considered actionable under S46: 

A common carrier or other public utility is subject to  liability t o  
patrons utilizing its facilities for gross insults which reasonably 
offend them, inflicted by the utility's servants while otherwise 
acting within the scope of their employment. 

Section 48, Restatement (Second) of Torts. This expansion of the type of conduct deemed 

actionable under S46 is explained as follows: 

1' Accord, National Airlines, Inc. v. Fleming, 141 So.2d 343 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962). See 
Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Dixon, 310 So.2d 336 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975); 9 Fla. Jur.Zd, Carriers, 
S l l l  (and numerous decisions ci ted therein). This is, of course, but a corollary of the "well- 
established [rule] t ha t  the amount of care required increases with the dangerousness of the 
agency involved and thus with the likelihood of injury". Marks v. Delcastillo, 386 So.2d 
1259, 1263-64 n.8 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), review denied, 397 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1981). Accord, 
Carter v. J .  Ray Arnold Lumber Co., 83 Fla. 470, 91 So. 893 (1922). 

This rule was not changed, as Eastern suggests, by Rindfleisch v. Carnival Cruise 
Lines, Inc., 498 So.2d 488 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), review denied, 508 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1987). 
Rindfleisch deals with the  duty owed a ship's passenger under the  law of admiralty, for  
which federal law has established a different rule. 
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Any public utility may of course be liable for the infliction of 
severe emotional distress by extreme and outrageous conduct, 
under the rule stated in S46. The rule stated in this Section goes 
further and makes such a defendant liable for conduct which falls 
short of extreme outrage, but is merely insulting. At the same 
time the rule of this Section does not extend to mere trivialities. ... 

Restatement (Second) of Torts, S48, comment c. 

Because the defendant in MetropoZitan Life Insurance Co. v. McCarson, supra, was not 

a common carrier, this Court had no occasion to address whether S48 of the Restatement 

should also be the law of Florida. In adopting S46 as a definition of the tort, however, we 

think the Court implicitly recognized the viability of S48. We reach that conclusion 

because the Court's opinion states that a district court should "conform its findings to the 

comments explaining the application of [§46]" (467 So.2d at 278; emphasis supplied)--and 

because the comments to S46 make it clear that S48 is merely a specific application of S46 

to a particular "special relationship": 

. . . There is no occasion for the law to intervene in every case 
where someone's feelings are hurt. There must still be freedom to 
express an unflattering opinion, and some safety valve must be left 
through which irascible tempers may blow off relatively harmless 
steam. . . . I t  is only where there is a special relation between the 
parties, as stated in S48, that there may be recovery for insults 
not amounting to extreme outrage. 

Restatement (Second) of Torts, S46, comment d. In other words, as we have urged, conduct 

considered trivial when measured against a lesser standard of care can readily be con- 

demned as outrageous when measured against an elevated standard of care. 

I t  makes no difference to us, of course, whether a cause of action is recognized under 

the general rule of S46 because of the "special relationship!' existing between the plaintiff 

and defendant, or whether i t  is recognized under the more specific rule of S48 for the type

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